
For any apologies or requests for further information, or to arrange to speak at the meeting 
Contact:  Sarah Baxter  
Tel: 01270 529786 
E-Mail: sarah.baxter@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
  

 

Northern Planning Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Date: Wednesday, 4th November, 2009 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Venue: The Capesthorne Room - Town Hall, Macclesfield SK10 1DX 
 
The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report. 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
2. Code of Conduct-Declarations of Interest/Pre-Determination   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any personal and/or 

prejudicial interests and for Members to declare if they have pre-determined any item on the 
agenda. 

 
3. Minutes of the Meeting  (Pages 1 - 4) 
 
 To approve the Minutes as a correct record. 

 
4. Public Speaking   
 

Public Document Pack



 A total period of 5 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for Ward 
Councillors who are not Members of the Planning Committee. 
  
A period of 3 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for the following 
individuals/groups: 
  

• Members who are not Members of the Planning Committee and are not the Ward 
Member  

• The Relevant Town/Parish Council  

• Local Representative Groups/Civic Society  

• Objectors  

• Applicants/Supporters  

 
5. 09/2553M-Demolition of Existing Honford Court Building, Detaching from 

Existing Honford Hall Block, Small Extension to Honford Hall Block to 
Rationalise Wc Facilities and M & E Plant. Construction of 36no. 2 Bed 
Apartments (Block of 12 and Block of 24) Including Associated Parking and 
Infrastructure, Honford Court, South Acre Drive, Handforth, Wilmslow, Cheshire 
for Cheshire Peaks and Plains Housing Trust  (Pages 5 - 16) 

 
 To consider the above application. 

 
6. 09/2867M-Erection of First Floor Extension & Rebuilding Conservatory with 

Higher Pitched Roof, Swan Ridge, Mereside Road, Mere, Knutsford, Cheshire 
for Mr Pascal Paschalis  (Pages 17 - 26) 

 
 To consider the above application. 

 



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Northern Planning Committee 
held on Wednesday, 14th October, 2009 at The Capesthorne Room - Town 

Hall, Macclesfield SK10 1DX 
 

PRESENT 
 
Councillor R West (Chairman) 
 
Councillors C Andrew, G Barton, J Crockatt, H Davenport, E Gilliland, 
T Jackson, J Narraway, D Neilson, L Smetham, D Stockton, D Thompson and 
C Tomlinson 
 
OFFICERS PRESENT: 
 
Mr P Hooley (Principal Planning Officer), Mrs N Folan (Planning Solicitor) and 
Mr N Turpin (Principal Planning Officer) 
 

 
Apologies 

 
Councillors M Hardy and W Livesley 

 
59 CODE OF CONDUCT-DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST/PRE-

DETERMINATION  
 
None. 

 
60 MINUTES OF THE MEETING  

 
RESOLVED 
 
That the minutes be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 
61 PUBLIC SPEAKING  

 
RESOLVED 
 
That the public speaking procedure be noted. 

 
62 09/2859M-CONSERVATION & CONVERSION OF GRADE 2 LISTED 

FORMER SILK MILL TO 16 NEW APARTMENTS, BROWN STREET 
MILL, BROWN STREET, MACCLESFIELD, CHESHIRE FOR MR. 
QUINN, SILK MILL MANSIONS LTD  
 
(An objector attended the meeting and spoke in respect of the application). 
 
Consideration was given to the above application. 
 
RESOLVED 

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 3Page 1



 
That the application be approved subject to the following conditions:- 
 

1. A03FP      -  Commencement of development (3 years)                                                                 

2. A01AP      -  Development in accord with approved plans                                                             

3. A06EX      -  Materials as application                                                                                                                                 

4. A08EX      -  Submission of specified materials                                                                                                                           

5. A09EX      -  Rainwater goods                                                                                                                                    

6. A11EX      -  Details to be approved - window design                                                                                         

7. A14EX      -  Specification of bonding of brickwork                                                                                  

8. A20EX      -  Submission of details of windows                                                                                                                            

9. A21EX      -  Roof lights set flush                                                                                                                         

10. A22EX      -  Roofing material                                                                                                                

11. Mortar mix                                                                                                                                                                         

12. Method statement                                                                                                                                                                   

13. Doors and windows 

 

In addition the following conditions were also included:- 

 

1. No pile driving 

2. Hours of working 

3. No bonfires to the rear of the mill 

4. Contaminated land 

 

(Prior to consideration of the following application Councillor G Barton lef the 
meeting and did not return).                                                                                                                                                                

Page 2



 
 

63 09/2862M-CONSERVATION & CONVERSION OF GRADE 2 LISTED 
FORMER SILK MILL TO 16 NEW APARTMENTS (LBC), BROWN 
STREET MILL, BROWN STREET, MACCLESFIELD, CHESHIRE FOR 
MR. QUINN, SILK MILL MANSIONS LTD  
 
Consideration was given to the above application. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the application be approved subject to the following conditions:- 
 

1. A07LB      -  Standard Time Limit                                                                                                                               

2. A02LB      -  Method statement                                                                                                                    

3. A03LB      -  Protection of features                                                                                                 

4. A05LB      -  Protection of features 

 

(The meeting was adjourned at 3.20pm and reconvened at 3.30pm). 

 
64 09/2028M-ERECTION OF BUILDING INCLUDING RETAIL ON GROUND 

FLOOR, OFFICES ON FIRST FLOOR AND BASEMENT PARKING 
(RETROSPECTIVE), 17- 23, LONDON ROAD, ALDERLEY EDGE, 
CHESHIRE FOR MIDDLEMEDE PROPERTIES LTD  
 
(The Ward Councillor F Keegan, two objectors and the architect for the applicant 
attended the meeting and spoke in respect of the application). 
 
Consideration was given to the above application. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the application be delegated to the Head of Planning and Policy in 
conjunction with the Chairman for approval subject to the receipt of amended 
plans showing chimneys located on the building (unless demonstrated to be 
unfeasible), subject to the completion of a S106 legal agreement for Traffic 
Regulation Order amendments and subject to the following conditions:- 
 

1. A01AP      -  Development in accord with approved plans                                                             

2. AGRG1      -  Details of deliveries                                                                                                

3. ALP71      -  limitation on use                                                                                                                                         

4. AGR91      -  Ground floor window display                                                                                                                 

5. Access in accordance with approved plans                                                                                                    

6. No obstruction of footway                                                                                                                   

7. Parking                                                                                                                                                                                        

8. Cycle Parking                                                                                                                               

9. Access Drive                                                                                                                                

Page 3



10. Changing Facilities 

 

In addition the following conditions were also included:- 

 

1. Obscure glazing and non opening windows facing no.1 Clifton Street and 
the residency above Weinholts 

2. Hours of trading to be from 7am-11pm 

3. Deliveries between 7am-10am and 4pm-7pm 

4. Lighting scheme in the vicinty of the ginnel to be agreed 

 
 
 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 4.30 pm 
 

Councillor R West (Chairman) 
 

 

Page 4



Agenda Item 5Page 5



 Application No: 09/2553M  

 Location: HONFORD COURT, SOUTH ACRE DRIVE, HANDFORTH, 
WILMSLOW, CHESHIRE 

 Proposal: DEMOLITION OF EXISTING HONFORD COURT BUILDING, 
DETACHING FROM EXISTING HONFORD HALL BLOCK, SMALL 
EXTENSION TO HONFORD HALL BLOCK TO RATIONALISE WC 
FACILITIES AND M & E PLANT. CONSTRUCTION OF 36NO. 2 
BED APARTMENTS (BLOCK OF 12 AND BLOCK OF 24) 
INCLUDING ASSOCIATED PARKING AND INFRASTRUCTURE. 
 

 For CHESHIRE PEAKS & PLAINS HOUSING TRUST 
 

 Registered 21-Aug-2009 
 Policy Item No 
 Grid Reference 385782 383153 
  

 
 
Date Report Prepared: 
26th October 2009 
 
REASON FOR REPORT 
The development would result in the erection of 36 dwellings.  
 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND CONTEXT 
The application site comprises a three-storey block of 35no. sheltered housing 
units that is currently vacant, and part of the adjoining Honford Hall (a 
community centre facility).  Both are owned by Cheshire Peaks and Plains 
Housing Association.  The application site is bounded to the east by 
Handforth Railway Station and railway line, to the west by Cypress House (a 
care home facility) and a hotel and associated car parking, and to the north by 
two-storey dwellinghouses.   
 
DETAILS OF PROPOSAL 
Full planning permission is sought to demolish the existing three-storey block 
of sheltered housing units and part of the community centre building; the 
erection of 36no. two-bedroom apartments located in two separate blocks 
(one comprising 12 apartments and the other comprising 24 apartments); the 
erection of a small extension to the rear of the community centre building; and 
associated parking and infrastructure. 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION 
Approve subject to conditions and a section 106 agreement 
 
MAIN ISSUES 
Impact of the proposed development on the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area, the residential amenity of neighbouring properties, housing 
policy, nature conservation, the adjacent railway line and existing trees. 

Page 6



79753P Extensions & new car park to residential care home 
  Approved 20/01/95 
 
 
 
POLICIES 
Regional Spatial Strategy 
DP1   Spatial Principles 
DP4  Making the Best Use of Existing Resources and Infrastructure 
L4   Regional Housing Provision 
EM1(B)  Integrated Enhancement and Protection of the Region’s 

Environmental Assets – Natural Environment 
EM1(D)  Integrated Enhancement and Protection of the Region’s 

Environmental Assets – Trees, Woodlands and Forests 
EM18 Decentralised Energy Supply 
 
Local Plan Policy 
BE1   Design Guidance  
DC1   New Build  
DC3   Amenity 
DC6   Circulation and Access 
DC9   Tree Protection 
DC38   Space, Light and Privacy 
H1   Phasing Policy 
H2   Environmental Quality in Housing Developments 
H13   Protecting Residential Areas 
 
Other Material Considerations 
PPS3  Housing 
 
CONSIDERATIONS (External to Planning) 
Highways: No objection subject to conditions and a s106 agreement  
 
Environmental Health: No objection subject to conditions and a note in 
respect of land contamination. 
 
Housing: No objection. 
 
Leisure: Comments are awaited. 
 
Estates: Comments are awaited. 
 
Network Rail: No objection subject to conditions/informatives 
 
OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
One letter of representation was received that raised a concern regarding 
insufficient parking and the potential danger to children from the adjacent 
railway line.  All other matters raised were not material planning 
considerations.  
 

Page 7



APPLICANT'S SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
A PPS3 Housing Self-Assessment Checklist, a Phase I & Phase II 
GeoEnvironmental Assessment, a Design & Access Statement, a Transport 
Statement, a Tree Survey, a Bat Survey, and an Acoustic Consultancy Report 
were submitted as part of the planning application.  Full copies of these are 
available to view on the application file. 
 
 
 
OFFICER APPRAISAL 
Principal of Development 
The principle issues surrounding the determination of this application are the 
impact of the proposed development on residential amenity, the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area, the existing trees, any impact on 
protected species or the adjacent railway, and any highway issues regarding 
access and parking. 
 
Policy 
Principle of Development 
The application site is located within a predominantly residential area.  The 
principle of new dwellings in this location is therefore considered to be 
acceptable. 

PPS3: Housing 

The Council produced new guidance in respect of housing developments 
titled “PPS3 Housing and Saved Policies Advice Note”.  The Advice Note is 
based on a list of five criteria outlined in PPS3 which Planning Authorities 
should have regard to when determining planning applications for new 
housing.  In summary, the Advice Note states that planning applications for 
new housing should meet the following criteria: 
 

1. Ensuring the proposed development is in line with planning for housing 
objectives, reflecting the need and demand for housing in the area and 
does not undermine wider policy objectives (does the application 
accord with the housing objectives of the Borough and wider policy 
objectives e.g. affordable housing and urban regeneration). 

 
2. Ensuring developments achieve a good mix of housing reflecting the 

accommodation requirements of specific groups, in particular, families 
and older people (does the application meet the housing needs of the 
area and/or provide affordable housing). 

 
3. The suitability of a site for housing, including its environmental 

sustainability (is the site in a suitable and sustainable location, is it 
previously developed land, what constraints exist). 

 
4. Using land effectively and efficiently (is the density at least 30 dwellings 

per hectare). 
 

Page 8



5. Achieving high quality housing (is the site accessible to public transport 
and services, is the development well laid out, safe, accessible and 
user friendly, is there adequate open space and/or access to 
recreational open space, does the design complement/improve the 
character of the area, is the car parking well designed and integrated, 
does the development enhance biodiversity). 

 
A PPS3 Housing Self-Assessment Checklist was submitted with the planning 
application to address the criteria outlined in the Advice Note.  The site is 
considered to be in a suitable and sustainable location and exceeds the 
Government’s minimum housing density.  It is a site within a predominantly 
residential area, which is within walking distance of public transport links, 
Handforth district centre and to services.  The scheme would provide high 
quality housing.  
 
The proposed development would provide 36no. two bed apartments for rent.  
The Affordable Housing Officer states that social stock comprises 12% of 
housing in the Borough, well below the national level of 19.3%.  The 
availability of rented stock through re-lets is low relative to the expectation that 
existing stock flows should address 90% of all need.  The largest proportion of 
additional affordable units is required as rented properties, both for new 
forming households and existing families.  The proposal is for the site to be 
100% social rented housing.  This will meet a much needed demand for rented 
accommodation in this area.  

For these reasons it is considered that the proposal broadly complies with the 
five listed criteria.    

Design 
The proposed development would comprise the demolition of the existing 
three-storey apartment block and part of the community centre, and the 
erection of two blocks of social rented housing and an extension to the 
existing community centre.   
 
Block A would comprise 24 apartments that would largely be sited on the 
footprint of the existing three-storey block of apartments and Block B would 
comprise 12 apartments and would be sited to the south of the existing 
apartment block.  Both buildings would comprise three storeys with an overall 
height of 10 metres compared to the existing height of the building which is 
11.5 metres.  Both blocks would be of a modern contemporary design that 
would be constructed of brick with render panels and the roof would comprise 
a shallow pitch butterfly. 
 
The apartments have been designed in two smaller blocks rather than one 
large block in order to reduce the scale and bulk of the overall buildings and 
for them to be more in keeping with the surrounding area.  The surrounding 
buildings comprise a mix of designs, heights and materials and therefore the 
modern contemporary design is not considered to be detrimental to the 
surrounding area.  The existing apartment block is currently raised above the 
level of the adjacent car park by approximately 1.8 metres however it is 

Page 9



proposed to lower the existing ground level so that level access can be gained 
from the car park which would subsequently reduce the height of the buildings 
when viewed from the surrounding area.   
 
The existing apartment block is attached to the adjacent community centre by 
a single storey link that is to be demolished.  The existing community centre 
building would be reconfigured and a single storey extension would be 
attached to the rear southern elevation to accommodate the toilet facilities 
that would be lost. 
 
For the reasons outlined above it is considered that the proposed 
development is considered acceptable in design terms and would not have a 
detrimental affect on the character or appearance of the surrounding area.     
 
Amenity 
A residential care home building is sited to the west of the application site and 
two-storey terrace properties are located to the north.  Block A would be sited 
further away from the neighbouring care home than the existing building, and 
the proposed building would be sited over 50 metres from the dwellinghouses 
to the north and would be screened by the existing community centre building.  
Block B would have no impact on neighbouring amenity as the closest 
buildings comprise a hotel and an office.  No objection is therefore raised on 
amenity grounds. 
 
 
 
Highways 
The Highway Engineer raises no highway objection to this application. 
 
The development is changing from the existing bedsit facility to apartments.  
There are a total of 42 parking spaces proposed which is shown split into 3 
disabled and 39 standard spaces.  Upon reviewing the highway adoption limit 
records the Highway Engineer noted that two of the proposed parking spaces 
on the plan are formed on what is adopted highway.   This is not acceptable 
from a highway perspective and these spaces have to be removed.  This will 
reduce the parking level of standard bays from 39 to 37 which reflect a 
parking provision ratio of 1.02 spaces per dwelling not 1.25 as indicated in the 
Design & Access Statement.  
 
Whilst the Highway Engineer notes the comment at Section 3 of the Design & 
Access Statement that parking provision is more than sufficient based on 
known levels of parking on similar tenure schemes, there is no supporting 
information submitted with the application. 
 
The second aspect for which amended plans are required refers to the 
existing turning head facility.  It would appear that the proposed plan is 
removing a section of the existing turning head facility and encroaching into it 
to provide an increased area for parking and a footway.  The turning head 
must remain in its current parameters and must not be adjusted in order to 

Page 10



facilitate manoeuvring for deliveries and refuse collection.  This may impact 
on the proposed layout and will need to be addressed by the applicant.  
 
The Highway Engineer has indicated that the required changes can be dealt 
with by way of a condition and do not need to be submitted prior to 
determination.   
 
Residential schemes can still attract higher levels of vehicle ownership and in 
view of the limited parking provision a financial contribution of £3,000 is 
required for a Traffic Regulation Order to control potential parking overspill on 
South Acre Drive.  This will need to be secured by way of a section 106 
agreement.  The site will be assessed post occupation and should this 
situation arise then it can be addressed.  If the funding is not used it will be 
returned to the applicant and this will be contained within the wording of the 
agreement.  The provision of the Traffic Regulation Order, if required, will 
promote the aims of sustainable travel as referred to in the Transport 
Statement supporting this application. 
 
Forestry 
The proposed arboricultural information supporting this application is 
somewhat basic in terms of the level of detail necessary to determine the full 
effects of the proposed development.  The Tree Survey submitted is just a 
condition/amenity assessment and does not provide any information as to the 
impact of the proposed development on existing trees. 
 
The only specific concerns raised by the Forestry Officer are in respect of the 
proposed level changes and the potential impact upon the trees proposed for 
retention on the plans and others not indicated in this submission.  Further 
information has therefore been requested and this is currently awaited. 
 
Landscaping 
The soft landscape proposals are generally acceptable to the Landscape 
Officer subject to the addition of a shrub bed along the base of the proposed 
retaining wall to soften the structure.  If the application is approved the 
Landscape Officer recommends that landscape and boundary conditions are 
imposed (subject to this amendment) and the submission of additional 
information prior to the commencement of development in respect of existing 
and proposed levels, the proposed crib wall, the fence along the top of the 
wall, proposed boundary treatments particularly along the railway to the side 
and rear of block, bin store enclosures, hard surfacing materials and future 
landscape maintenance.  This has been forwarded to the agent and is 
currently awaited.  No objection is therefore raised from a landscape 
perspective.   
 
Ecology 
The ecologist who undertook the survey is known to the Nature Conservation 
Officer and is suitably qualified and experienced to undertake work of this 
kind.  Whilst the Bat Survey was undertaken during the winter, which meant 
no emergence survey could be undertaken, the Nature Conservation Officer is 
satisfied that considering the location of the building, the surrounding land use 

Page 11



and the construction type of the lofts that bats are not reasonably likely to be 
present or affected by the proposed development.  In order to ensure that the 
building retains some potential for bats a condition is recommended for the 
incorporation of features into the scheme for use by roosting bats. 
 
Environmental Issues 
Noise 
This Department would raise concern relating to the sensitivity of the site in 
terms of the proposal for residential apartments in close proximity to the 
railway line and the associated impact of noise to the future residents of the 
apartments.  In formulating her comments, the Environmental Health Officer 
has considered the Environmental Noise Impact Assessment - Report 
1466/ENIA, which has been produced by Acoustic Design Technology and 
has been submitted as part of the application.  
 
The report is useful in providing sound level measurements taken at the site 
and in the assessment of the environmental noise impact at the proposed 
apartments.  This Department considers that the recommendations made in 
that report in terms of the installation of standard thermal double glazing and 
trickle ventilation is satisfactory in terms of noise from the Manchester Road 
(road traffic noise).  Consequently, the main concerns the Environmental 
Health Officer raises relates to those apartments who face and are in close 
proximity to the railway line. 
 
The railway line is a main route line and therefore a busy track in terms of rail 
traffic.  There are likely to be variations in terms of the number of trains per 
day and the Environmental Health Officer highlights the fact that the 
consultant’s noise assessment was taken over a limited period of time during 
the week.  Also, whilst in line with the measurement format as detailed in 
Planning Process Guidance Note 24, I would highlight the fact that dB LAeq 
sound level measurements are an ‘averaged out over a stated period of time’ 
figure.     
 
The ‘actual’ noise from the passing of trains at the application site has been 
noted as ranging from between approximately 74 dB(A)SPL and 87 dB(A)SPL 
which are significantly high noise levels – albeit, short lived in terms of the 
period of the passing of the train.  However, such a high noise level, character 
and type of noise will undoubtedly be intrusive and disturbing within the 
proposed apartments – particularly those apartments which face towards the 
railway line.   
 
It is further recognised that significant operational changes could occur in the 
future in terms of rail traffic on that line.  As a consequence of all these points, 
it is the opinion of this Department that it would be prudent to install high 
performance acoustic windows to the habitable rooms of all apartments in 
both blocks A and B on the railway façade of the development.  It is therefore 
recommended that this is restricted by condition.  
 
As guidance, the minimum standard which this Department would accept is 
windows that achieve a sound reduction of not less than 36 Rm (dB)/40 Rw 

Page 12



(dB).  By way of example, this can be achieved by installing windows of 10mm 
float glass – 12 mm air space – 6.4 mm laminate glass.  However, the 
Environmental Health Officer would advise that other window designs/ 
specifications would be accepted provided that the aforementioned degree of 
sound reduction is achieved. 
 
Contamination 
As the application is for a sensitive end use and therefore could be affected 
by any contamination present, it is requested that a standard note be attached 
to the application. 
 
Other Considerations 
Renewable Energy 
Policy EM18 of the Regional Spatial Strategy relates to residential 
developments comprising 10 or more units and states that at least 10% of the 
predicted energy requirements should come from decentralised and 
renewable or low-carbon sources, unless it can be demonstrated (having 
regard to the type of development involved and its design) that it would not 
feasible or viable.  It is considered that this requirement can be dealt with by 
condition and that the caveat should be also be included. 
 
HEADS OF TERMS 
The applicant should enter into a section 106 agreement for a Traffic 
Regulation Order and to secure the development as affordable housing. 
 
CONCLUSIONS AND REASON(S) FOR THE DECISION 
Recommend approval subject to the signing of a section 106 agreement  
 
SUBJECT TO: 
Further information being received in respect of the existing trees on site and 
outstanding consultee responses being received.  
 

Page 13



 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of HMSO.

© Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to legal or civil proceedings. Cheshire East Borough Council, licence no. 100018585 2007..              
#                        

09/2553M - HONFORD COURT, SOUTH ACRE DRIVE, HANDFORTH, WILMSLOW

N.G.R. - 385,780 - 383,160

THE SITE

Page 14



 
 
Application for Full Planning 

RECOMMENDATION : Approve subject to following conditions 

 
1. A03FP      -  Commencement of development (3 years)                                                                                                                                                                                              

2. A02EX      -  Submission of samples of building materials                                                                                                                                                                          

3. A02HA      -  Construction of access                                                                                                                                                                                 

4. A02HP      -  Provision of car parking (scheme to be submitted)                                                                                                                                        

5. A04HP      -  Provision of cycle parking                                                                                                                                                 

6. A26HA      -  Prevention of surface water flowing onto highways                                                                                                            

7. A07HA      -  No gates - new access                                                                                                                          

8. A30HA      -  Protection of highway from mud and debris                                                                                        

9. A01LS      -  Landscaping - submission of details                                                                                

10. A04LS      -  Landscaping (implementation)                                                                         

11. A12LS      -  Landscaping to include details of boundary treatment                                                                                                                                                                                                           

12. A10LS      -  Additional landscaping details required                                                                                                                                                                                                                        

13. A01AP      -  Development in accord with approved plans                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

14. Revised Plan showing existing turning head and deletes two parking 
bays                                                                                                                                                                                        

15. Acoustic Windows                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

16. Features for Bats                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

17. Renewable Energy Provision                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

18. Vibro-Compaction Machinery                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

19. Excavations/Earthworks Adjacent to Railway                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

 

 

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



 Application No: 09/2867M  

 Location: SWAN RIDGE, MERESIDE ROAD, MERE, KNUTSFORD, 
CHESHIRE, WA16 6QZ 

 Proposal: ERECTION OF FIRST FLOOR EXTENSION & REBUILDING 
CONSERVATORY WITH HIGHER PITCHED ROOF 
 

 For MR PASCAL PASCHALIS 
 

 Registered 29-Sep-2009 
 Policy Item No 
 Grid Reference 373172 383082 
  
Date Report Prepared: 
 
23.10.09 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
REASON FOR REPORT 
 
The application has been called to Committee by Cllr Macrae due to concerns which have 
been expressed that the proposed development by virtue of its design, scale and 
relationship to adjacent dwellings may conflict with saved policies and also result in un-
neighbourly development. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND CONTEXT 
 
The two storey detached property is located on Mereside Road in a ribbon of development 
in the North Cheshire Green Belt in proximity to the crossroads at Mere. Many properties 
in the vicinity have been extended substantially in the past. 
 
The house is slightly elevated above the level of the road and is screened in the majority 
by a mature front boundary hedge. There are views of the front elevation of the property 
along the access & driveway.   
 
DETAILS OF PROPOSAL 
 
The scheme proposes to construct a first floor side extension over the existing flat roofed 
double garage to accommodate a master bedroom suite with two rooflights facing towards 
the rear boundary of the site and a dormer window facing towards Mereside Road. 
 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approve subject to conditions  

 
MAIN ISSUES 
 
Impact on the Green Belt, residential amenity, the design on the character 
and appearance of the area and highway safety  
 

Agenda Item 6Page 17



A replacement conservatory is also proposed, the eaves of which would tie into those of 
the proposed first floor side extension. The existing conservatory is in a poor state of 
repair.  
 
The revised plans have significantly reduced the height and the steepness of the pitch of 
the proposed conservatory roof so that it is akin to the existing situation. The plans have 
also omitted the rear facing internal balcony to the master bedroom suite.  
 
It is noted that the scheme proposes an additional side facing rooflight to the south east 
elevation, as this is being installed in the existing structure it would not require planning 
permission in its own right.  
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 
 
No planning history since 1977 
 
POLICIES 
 
Regional Spatial Strategy 
 
RDF4 - Green Belts 
DP1 - Spatial Principles 
DP7 - Promoting Environmental Quality 
 
Local Plan Policy 
 
BE1 – Design Guidance 
H13 – Protecting Residential Areas 
GC1 – New Buildings 
GC12 – Alterations and Extensions to Houses  
DC1 – New Build 
DC2 – Extensions and Alterations 
DC3 – Amenity 
DC6 – Circulation and Access  
DC38 – Space, Light & Privacy 
DC43 – Side Extensions to Houses  
 
Other Material Considerations 
 
Revised plans were received in relation to this scheme on the 21st October 2009. The 
neighbours and Parish Council have been reconsulted on the modified plans; the last day 
for any additional comments is the 1st November 2009. Any additional comments will be 
included in the update report or presented verbally at Committee.  
 
CONSULTATIONS (External to Planning) 
 
None 
 
VIEWS OF THE PARISH / TOWN COUNCIL 
 
Mere PC: object to this development, due to the exterior design and size of the 
development being too large for both the plot and the surrounding properties. The 
development will finish too close to the neighbouring development Overlea. The 

Page 18



development will cause a serious intrusion upon the resident in Overlea and take light 
away from the kitchen/dining area and bathrooms on both the ground and first floors. The 
development will have a detrimental impact on the character of the area. 
 
If any additional comments are received from the Parish Council in light of the revised 
plans they will be provided in the update report/presented verbally at Committee. 
 
OTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
To date, one letter of objection to the original plans has been received from the occupant 
of the neighbouring property known as Overlea. The last day for comments on the original 
plans is the 27 October 2009 and a revised date has been set for the 1 November 2009 in 
respect of the revised plans. The main points raised were: 
 

• Reduction in light to window serving a kitchen/diner. 
 

• In accordance with existing planning guidelines for house extensions, any proposed 
first floor extension should be at least one metre from the existing boundary. 

 

• The proposed conservatory this will reduce light to the existing dining kitchen 
window compared to the existing roof. 

 

• The proposal would adversely affect the light aspect to the dining kitchen area and 
would be an un-neighbourly intrusion 

 
OFFICER APPRAISAL 
 
Policy & Principle of Development 
 
Policy GC12 of the MBLP allows alterations and extensions to existing houses in the 
Green Belt of up to 30% of the original floor space. Certain exceptions may be permitted 
including where, the property is located within a group of houses or ribbon of development. 
The property is located on Mereside Road, which comprises a clear ribbon of detached 
properties on its western side. It is acknowledged that due to the ribbon form of 
development along this side of Mereside Road, considerable flexibility has previously been 
afforded to extensions to these properties, when assessing applications for extensions. 
This approach accords with the policy’s tests. 
 
The main consideration is therefore the prominence of the extension, its impact upon the 
character and appearance of the area and its effect on the living conditions of the 
neighbour. 
 
The extension would add to the bulk of the existing dwelling; however the sloping pitched 
roof and the subservient ridge line coupled with the existing mature screening to the front 
boundary are considered to reduce the prominence of the proposal.  
 
Policy DC43 states that side extensions to houses should not normally encroach within 1m 
of the site boundary to prevent the creation of a terraced street effect. The first floor side 
extension would be located over the existing single storey garage structure which 
immediately abuts the shared boundary. Whilst this part of the proposal conflicts with the 
requirement of policy DC43 (to maintain the 1m gap), it does not conflict with the 
reasoning behind that requirement. That is to prevent a ‘terraced effect’ which means the 

Page 19



visual effect of what were detached houses appearing as a terrace due to insufficient gap 
between them. This is particularly important in streets with regular housing layout, estates 
and the like. Members should note that where the terraced effect will not be perceptible 
form the public domain then Inspectors do not tend to support application of the 1m test for 
its own sake.  
 
The proposal is not considered to create a terraced street effect as the subservient 
proposal with its pitched roof would be located 1.8m from the gabled element of the 
adjoining property. Policy DC43’s requirement should not, therefore, be rigidly applied.  
 
Highways 
 
Having regard to the standing advice from the Highways Authority, it is noted that the 
property has a substantial driveway/parking area and a double garage, which is 
considered to adequately accommodate the parking and turning requirements for the 
proposal.  Accordingly no highway safety issues are raised in terms of MBLP Policy DC6.  
 
Design 
 
Policies BE1, DC1, DC2 seek to promote high standards of design, with the overall 
vernacular, scale, density, height, mass and materials of new development being 
sympathetic to the character of the locality, surrounding buildings and the site itself. These 
policies reflect national advice in the form of PPS1. 
 
The pitched roof side extension would follow through the eaves line of the existing dwelling 
and would be subservient to the original dwelling house. The ridge line would be situated 
3.8m back from the existing front gable and 0.5m lower than the existing ridge. The front 
dormer echoes the gabled design of the existing property. 
 
Although the first floor side extension would add to the bulk of the property the proposal 
would slope towards the rear of the site and the pitched roof addition to the existing flat 
roof structure is considered to improve the aesthetics of the front elevation of the property 
when viewed from Mereside Road.  
 
The revised design of the replacement conservatory is a modern interpretation of the 
existing structure and is of similar dimensions.   
 
The materials are proposed to match those as existing and this can be controlled by 
condition.  
 
Accordingly the design of the extensions is considered to be generally in keeping with the 
existing dwelling, remaining subordinate in scale and of similar architectural style. 
Furthermore, Mereside Road is of varied character not only in terms of design style but 
also through a number of other variants including the use of materials, plot size, house 
size and position from the road. As such the scheme is considered to be in keeping with 
the mixed character and appearance of the surrounding area. The proposal does not 
offend the character nor the appearance of this area.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



Amenity 
 
Policies H13 & DC3 seek to protect the amenities of residential properties in the vicinity of 
the site.  
 
The proposed works would take place in proximity to the south east of the site. ‘Overlea’ is 
located to the south east of the application site. The site edged red doglegs in relation to 
the adjoining properties, in this case the proposals would be located around 1.8m from the 
side elevation of Overlea.  
 
Having assessed the application from both inside and out of Overlea, it is apparent that in 
terms of MBLP Policy DC38 there is only one habitable side facing window at Overlea. 
This ground floor window serves a kitchen diner; all other side facing rooms on the ground 
and first floor are non-habitable bathrooms to which the Council can afford very little/no 
weight.  
 
It is noted that Overlea is located on higher ground level than the application site.  
 
The kitchen diner is also served by a large glazed conservatory which creates one open 
through room that spans the rear of the gabled element of Overlea and there is borrowed 
light through glazed doors from an adjoining room.  
 
The window in question is located in front of part of the work top and an off set kitchen sink 
which currently looks out onto the roof of the existing conservatory and roof slope of the 
main dwelling house. When stood at 90 degrees from the window less than a third of the 
window looks out onto a relatively small part of the flat roof garage. In light of the revised 
plans which have reduced the height of the conservatory so that it is 0.2m higher than 
existing. This increase in 0.2m is not considered to raise significant further harm than the 
existing situation given the nature of the light weight conservatory which would allow light 
to pass through it and the design of the sloping roof. Furthermore it is considered that a 
similar extension could be constructed under the householders Permitted Development 
rights without the need for formal consent.  
 
The revised plans have omitted the solid sided balcony which projected from the rear of 
the first floor side extension. This has reduced the bulk of the proposal when viewed from 
the window at Overlea.  
 
The main impact on Overlea will be from the first floor side extension and its relationship 
with the window in the kitchen/diner. Given that the pitched roof will slope away from the 
window towards the front of the application site and in light of the fact the pitched roof only 
impacts on around a third of the window, the revised proposal is not considered to raise 
significant harm to warrant a recommendation of refusal.   
 
The gable end of the side extension will located in proximity to the window and it is 
acknowledge there would be some loss of light, however, it would only partially affect one 
light source to a kitchen/diner and as such is not considered to cause significant harm to 
warrant a recommendation of approval.  
 
There are no side facing windows proposed in either the conservatory or side extension 
and it is advised that a condition removing permitted development rights for the further 
insertion of windows is attached to any approval to protect the interests of residential 
amenity given the relationship of the proposal in relation to the neighbouring property 
(Overlea).  

Page 21



 
CONCLUSIONS AND REASON(S) FOR THE DECISION 
 
In light of the above and following the receipt of revised plans a recommendation of 
approval is made subject to conditions.  

Page 22



 
Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of HMSO.

© Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to legal or civil proceedings. Cheshire East Borough Council, licence no. 100018585 2007..              
#                        

09/2867M - SWAN RIDGE, MERESIDE ROAD, MERE, KNUTSFORD, CHESHIRE

N.G.R. - 373,170 - 383,090

THE SITE

Page 23



 
 
Application for Householder 

RECOMMENDATION : Approve subject to following conditions 

 
1. A03FP      -  Commencement of development (3 years)                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

2. A04EX      -  Materials to match existing                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

3. A06GR      -  No windows to be inserted                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

4. A04AP      -  Development in accord with revised plans (numbered)                                                                                                                                                                                                   

 

 
 

Page 24



 
 
 

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting
	5 09/2553M-Demolition of Existing Honford Court Building, Detaching from Existing Honford Hall Block, Small Extension to Honford Hall Block to Rationalise Wc Facilities and M & E Plant. Construction of 36no. 2 Bed Apartments (Block of 12 and Block of 24) Including Associated Parking and Infrastructure, Honford Court, South Acre Drive, Handforth, Wilmslow, Cheshire for Cheshire Peaks and Plains Housing Trust
	6 09/2867M-Erection of First Floor Extension & Rebuilding Conservatory with Higher Pitched Roof, Swan Ridge, Mereside Road, Mere, Knutsford, Cheshire for Mr Pascal Paschalis

